2008

Jones and Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Financial  
Development Services Inc., Jeremy warburton,  
John Neubauer, Jonathan L. Lowry, Nathan  
Kinsella, and Esbex.com, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal was properly before the Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) (2008). Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(4), the Utah Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court on November 3, 2008. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES / STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issues presented on appeal:

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Appellees Jonathan Lowry and Nathan Kinsella on March 21, 2006, by determining that Appellees were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on all of Appellant's claims against Kinsella and all but one part of one of Appellant's claims against Lowry?

*Standard of review:* "Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment presents a question of law, and [appellate courts] grant no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and review them for correctness. Yet, '[a] trial court has broad discretion to admit or exclude evidence and its determination typically will only be disturbed if it constitutes an abuse of discretion.'" *Sunridge Dev. Corp. v. RB&G Eng'g, Inc.*, 2008 UT App 29, ¶ 7, 177 P.3d 644 (quoting *State v. Whittle*, 1999 UT 96, ¶ 20, 989 P.2d 52) (further citations omitted). [R. 1691-1703; 2020-22.]

2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Appellee Jonathan Lowry, on October 8, 2008, by determining that Appellee Lowry was entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Appellant's one remaining claim against Lowry?

*Standard of review:* "Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment presents a

question of law, and [appellate courts] grant no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and review them for correctness. Yet, '[a] trial court has broad discretion to admit or exclude evidence and its determination typically will only be disturbed if it constitutes an abuse of discretion.'" *Sunridge Dev. Corp.*, 2008 UT App 29 at ¶7, 177 P.3d 644 (quoting *Whittle*, 1999 UT 96, at ¶20, 989 P.2d 52) (further citations omitted). [R. 2378-85.]

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises out of a lawsuit filed by Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc. ("J&T Marketing" or "Appellant") on August 29, 2002. [R. 49.] The original complaint named Financial Development Services, Inc. ("FDS"), Jeremy Warburton, and John Neubauer as defendants and contained six causes of action. [R. 39-49.] All of J&T Marketing's claims against these defendants arose out of or were related to a Sales and Marketing Agreement ("Agreement") entered into between FDS and J&T Marketing and made effective as of January 31, 2002. [R. 33-37.] (A copy of the Agreement is included in the Addendum hereto at Tab A.) Pursuant to the Agreement, J&T Marketing supplied FDS with the names, addresses and phone numbers of sales leads, and FDS marketed and sold Ted Thomas Courses through telemarketing and other sales efforts. [R. 1702.]

On May 6, 2004, the trial court granted J&T Marketing leave to amend its complaint and allege claims against Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella (collectively "Appellees") individually. [R. 994-996.] J&T Marketing filed its Amended Complaint on June 18, 2004, alleging nine cause of action: breach of contract, theft by conversion,

fraudulent misrepresentation, breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing, accounting, injunctive relief, constructive fraud, fraudulent non-disclosure, and intentional interference with business relations.<sup>1</sup> [R. 1027-44.] Five of these causes of action alleged tort claims against both Appellees individually and others, including FDS. [See *id.*]

## II. Proceedings Below

On May 20, 2005, Appellees Lowry and Kinsella filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, requesting summary judgment on J&T Marketing's second, third, seventh, eighth, and ninth causes of action as they applied to Lowry and Kinsella, *i.e.* all of the causes of action that contained tort allegations against them.<sup>2</sup> [R. 1198-1200.] Opposing Appellees' motion, J&T Marketing relied heavily upon statements made by John Neubauer in a deposition taken in Mr. Neubauer's separate bankruptcy proceeding.<sup>3</sup> [R.

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court denied J&T Marketing's Modified Motion to Amend Complaint as it pertained to two new causes of action alleging civil liability for violations of Utah's Pattern of Unlawful Activity Act and the federal Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act. [R. 995.] J&T Marketing subsequently filed a Modified Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint seeking to add an additional cause of action alleging conspiracy, [R. 886-87], but the trial court denied this motion in its entirety, [R. 1015-17]. Despite these rulings by the trial court, J&T Marketing attempted to raise factual issues in its summary judgment motions by referencing these invalid claims. See Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella's Motion for Summary Judgment at vii (claiming that Lowry and Kinsella had "omitted Jones's conspiracy cause of action"). [R. 1315.]

<sup>2</sup> J&T Marketing's First, Fourth, and Fifth causes of action were brought only against FDS. [R. 1034-35, 1031-32.] J&T Marketing's Sixth cause of action was brought against Lowry, Kinsella, Jeremy Warburton, FDS and Esbex and dealt with injunctive relief. [R. 1030-31.]

<sup>3</sup> J&T Marketing also relied upon the Affidavit of Chad Jenkins. [R. 1309-10.]

1292-1322.] Appellees Lowry and Kinsella objected to J&T Marketing's submission of Mr. Neubauer's bankruptcy deposition and moved to have it stricken from the record. [R. 1570-1571.] At the hearing held to consider Lowry and Kinsella's motions, the trial court granted Appellees' motion to strike the deposition<sup>4</sup> but allowed J&T Marketing additional time to conduct a new deposition of Mr. Neubauer. [R. 1629.] The trial court ordered that after participating in this new deposition, supplemental briefs could be filed by each party. [R. 1629, 1635-37.]

J&T Marketing took the deposition of Mr. Neubauer on October 18, 2005, and supplemental briefs then were filed by both parties whereupon the trial court granted Appellees' motion in part. [R. 1691-1703] In its *Ruling Granting In Part Defendants Lowry and Kinsella's Motion for Summary Judgment*, entered on February 1, 2006 (a copy of which is included in the Addendum hereto at Tab B), the trial court granted complete summary judgment to Appellees Lowry and Kinsella on the second, seventh, eighth, and ninth causes of action of the Amended Complaint. [R. 1691-97.] With respect to J&T Marketing's one remaining cause of action, *i.e.*, the third cause of action

---

However, portions of Mr. Jenkins's affidavit relied on by J&T Marketing had expressly been stricken by the trial court on May 6, 2004. [R. 995-96.]

<sup>4</sup> Lowry and Kinsella moved to strike Mr. Neubauer's bankruptcy deposition because they did not have notice of or attend the deposition, as required by Rule 32(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and because the portions relied on by J&T Marketing lacked foundation, were irrelevant, or were speculative and misleading. [R. 1577-83.] The trial court granted this motion on September 22, 2005. [R. 1629.] It was within the discretion of the trial court to exclude the bankruptcy proceeding testimony while granting J&T Marketing additional time to take Mr. Neubauer's deposition in this case. *See Whittle*, 1999 UT 96 at ¶20. J&T Marketing has not appealed the trial court's decision to strike Mr. Neubauer's bankruptcy deposition, and it cannot now support any factual allegations by relying on that stricken deposition testimony.

claiming fraudulent misrepresentation, however, the trial court granted complete summary judgment as to Defendant Kinsella but only partial summary judgment as to Defendant Lowry. Regarding one written statement allegedly made by Lowry, the trial court explained that “[d]rawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the Plaintiff, the Court denies Defendant Lowry’s motion for summary judgment as to this claim.” [R. 1692 (emphasis added).] The ruling granting summary judgment to Lowry and Kinsella except as to this claim and issue was later summarized in the trial court’s *Order on Defendants Lowry’s and Kinsella’s Motion for Summary Judgment* entered on March 21, 2006 (“2006 Order”) (a copy of which is included in the Addendum hereto at Tab C). [R. 2021.]

Following the entry of the Order on March 21, 2006, confirming the trial court’s February 1, 2006 ruling, J&T Marketing took no immediate action to pursue the lingering claim against Appellee Lowry upon which the trial court refused to grant summary judgment. J&T Marketing, however, did obtain a default judgment against Defendants FDS and Exbex.com on September 13, 2007, resolving its claims against those two defendants. [R. 2215-17.] The September 13, 2007 default judgment did not in any way address J&T Marketing’s remaining claim against Appellee Lowry for fraudulent misrepresentation.

On October 5, 2007, J&T Marketing filed a Notice of Appeal, seeking review of the trial court’s 2006 Order. [R. 2225.] However, after Appellees argued that the matter was not ripe for appeal, J&T Marketing voluntarily dismissed its appeal, [R. 2246], and the matter was remitted to the trial court [R. 2251]. Lowry filed a summary judgment

motion on J&T Marketing's remaining fraudulent misrepresentation claim on June 23, 2008 [R. 2272-85]. Exercising its discretion to re-examine the remaining claim of fraudulent misrepresentation against Lowry, the trial court granted summary judgment to Lowry on the remaining fraudulent misrepresentation claim on October 8, 2008. [R. 2378-85] (a copy of the *Order Granting Defendant Jonathan L. Lowry's Motion for Summary Judgment* ("2008 Order") is included in the Addendum hereto at Tab D). J&T Marketing appealed the 2006 Order and the 2008 Order on October 16, 2008.

### III. Statement of Undisputed Facts<sup>5</sup>

J&T Marketing's claims arise out of performance under a contract between FDS and J&T Marketing entered into in February 2002, which allowed FDS to sell J&T Marketing's Ted Thomas Courses. [R. 33-37, 1320.] Pursuant to the contract, J&T Marketing supplied FDS with the names, addresses and phone numbers of sales leads,

---

<sup>5</sup> J&T Marketing's citations to the record in its Statement of Facts of the *Brief of Appellant* do not appear to correspond to pages in the record that actually support the stated facts. Indeed, some of the citations actually refer to J&T Marketing's argument section of its *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants Jonathan L. Lowry and Nathan Kinsella's Motion for Summary Judgment*. [R. 1293-1308.] J&T Marketing's Memorandum relies heavily upon the bankruptcy deposition of John Neubauer, which the trial court specifically struck from the record in its entirety, finding it reliable only to the extent it was corroborated by Mr. Neubauer's October 18, 2005 deposition. [R. 1695.] J&T Marketing's Statement of Facts also apparently intended to cite to Mr. Neubauer's October 18, 2005 deposition, portions of which were attached to its *Supplemental Memorandum*. [R. 1640-49.] However, J&T Marketing's citations do not correspond to the actual pages of Mr. Neubauer's new deposition or to evidence that would create disputed material facts regarding Lowry and Kinsella's liability. In addition to this citation problem, Lowry and Kinsella note that Mr. Neubauer's new deposition testimony demonstrates serious foundational flaws. Mr. Neubauer stated several times that he can no longer recollect much concerning the day-to-day business of FDS or Esbex. [R. 1641, 1645, 1668, 1682.] Thus, J&T Marketing's citations to the record fail to support the facts alleged in its Statement of Facts.

and FDS marketed and sold the courses and remitted to J&T Marketing a portion of the sales proceeds. [R. 1320.] The contract provided that FDS could enroll purchasers of the Ted Thomas Courses in FDS's own program to provide coaching services for \$99 per month on its own account. [R. at 1701.] Approximately five and a half months after entering into the contract, i.e., on July 19, 2002, FDS cancelled the contract and informed J&T Marketing that J&T Marketing was in breach of contract based upon its failure to supply the Ted Thomas Courses to customers after FDS had made sales. [R. 1316, 1598.] In reaction to FDS's cancellation, J&T Marketing filed its original complaint against FDS and others on August 29, 2002. [R. 1316.] J&T Marketing subsequently amended its complaint alleging that Lowry and Kinsella should be held personally liable for certain actions related to the contract between FDS and J&T Marketing. [R. 1315-16.]

The putative reasons that J&T Marketing delayed or halted some shipments of its Ted Thomas Courses included the following: J&T Marketing would delay shipment of the product if FDS's payment was delayed; J&T Marketing employed temporary shipping clerks to do product shipment, which resulted in staff turnover and ongoing training and supervision issues; and J&T Marketing finally ceased shipping Ted Thomas Courses altogether due to a contract dispute with FDS over payment issues. [R. 1317.] A third entity, Esbex.com, Inc. ("Esbex") while not providing Ted Thomas Courses *per se*, provided coaching/mentoring services for a monthly fee to some purchasers of the Ted Thomas Courses. [R. 1319.] One of the payment issues was whether a percentage of the fees was owed to J&T Marketing on such coaching services. When J&T Marketing failed to ship product to FDS, FDS filled some orders by shipping products



that had been returned by other clients because it “was trying to fulfill to make people happy and prevent a refund or cancellation.” [R. 1647, Deposition of John Neubauer (dated October 18, 2005) (“Neubauer Dep.”) 16:4-14.] In addition, although J&T Marketing asserts that FDS and Esbex should have split coaching fees under the contract, the only evidence presented to the trial court was that FDS believed that the coaching fees were not covered by the contract and were not to be shared with J&T Marketing. [R. 1644, Neubauer Dep. 26:10 to 28:12.]

In its Amended Complaint, J&T Marketing asserted that Lowry individually and fraudulently misrepresented that FDS would stop selling Ted Thomas products, and the trial court initially denied Lowry summary judgment on this issue. [R. 1692.] However, Lowry gave instructions not to sell Ted Thomas products, and that he never rescinded this instruction. [R. 2286, 2289-91, 2292, 2308, 2381.] Lowry did not authorize any transaction involving the sale of a Ted Thomas product or any contact with a Ted Thomas lead after July 19, 2002. [R. 2307.] No evidence was submitted by J&T Marketing to demonstrate that Lowry or Kinsella individually hid evidence of sales of Ted Thomas products after July 19, 2002. [R. 2381.]

Lowry and Kinsella were shareholders, officers and directors of FDS and Esbex. [R. 1318, 1916.] John Neubauer was the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of FDS, and both FDS and Esbex used Mr. Neubauer to perform their accounting. [R. 1598, 1917.] Mr. Neubauer was FDS’s principal agent in dealing with J&T Marketing, and all communication with J&T marketing went through Mr. Neubauer. [R. 1318-19, 1916-17.] In his deposition taken in this case on October 18, 2005, Mr.



Neubauer testified that FDS and Esbex were legitimate companies, stating that he “wouldn’t have worked there if [he] didn’t feel that way.” [R. 1640, Neubauer Dep. 42:4-11.] Mr. Neubauer also testified that while Lowry and Kinsella took money from the business, he does not remember exactly how the money was accounted for, but he did specifically recall that as chief financial officer he accounted for and kept track of such withdrawals. [R. 1641, Neubauer Dep. 40:3-14.] The only evidence in the record is to the effect that FDS and Esbex followed corporate formalities. [R. 1196.] There is no evidence or submission presented to the trial court that Appellees Lowry or Kinsella co-mingled funds or acted outside of the scope of their corporate responsibilities at any time relevant to this matter. Further, J&T Marketing failed to present evidence that would support a conclusion that Lowry or Kinsella are or should be held personally liable for the alleged tort actions of conversion, fraudulent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, or intentional interference with contractual relations alleged against them. [R. 1691-94.]

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

J&T Marketing specifically appeals an order entered by the trial court on March 21, 2006, granting Lowry and Kinsella’s motion for summary judgment on all but one portion of the fraudulent misrepresentation claim against Lowry. J&T Marketing also appeals from the order entered by the trial court on October 8, 2008, wherein Lowry was granted summary judgment on that one remaining fraudulent misrepresentation claim.

It is respectfully submitted that this Court should uphold the trial court’s decision to grant Lowry and Kinsella’s motions for summary judgment. On a motion for summary

judgment, “the non-moving party has an obligation to come forward with sufficient proof to show that the non-moving party is entitled to proceed to trial.” *In re Discipline of Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 41, 86 P.3d 712. In the matter before this Court, J&T Marketing failed to present evidence before the trial court that would have supported a conclusion that genuine issues of material fact existed regarding J&T Marketing’s alter ego theory claims.

The alter ego theory only arises if both factors of a two prong test are shown: (1) that there is a unity of interest or ownership between the individual and the corporation, and (2) that maintaining the corporate form would sanction fraud, promote injustice or create an inequitable result. *See Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions Co.*, 2003 UT 57, ¶ 36, 84P.3d 1154. J&T Marketing failed to present evidence establishing genuine issues of material fact regarding either of these two prongs.

In addition, J&T Marketing utterly failed to present evidence that would support a conclusion of genuine issues of fact on any element of its claims for personal liability against Lowry and Kinsella. On the other hand, the undisputed evidence demonstrates that neither Lowry nor Kinsella are personally liable for any of J&T Marketing’s alleged injuries arising out of its contractual agreement with FDS. J&T Marketing did not present evidence to establish essential elements of its claims against Lowry and Kinsella for Theft by Conversion, Constructive Fraud, Fraudulent Nondisclosure, Intentional Interference with Contractual Relations, or Fraudulent Misrepresentation. Instead, the undisputed facts demonstrated that Lowry and Kinsella did not personally contribute to any damages allegedly sustained by J&T Marketing. The trial court correctly ruled that

there were no material issues of fact on the issue of summary judgment and correctly granted Lowry and Kinsella summary judgment as a matter of law.

In addition to these arguments, the trial court's decision to grant them summary judgment may also be upheld under the economic loss rule. The economic loss rule marks the boundary between contract and tort law. In this case, J&T Marketing allege facts to support breach of the contract between itself and FDS. On these same facts, J&T Marketing alleges tort claims against Lowry and Kinsella individually. Under Utah law, a party suffering only economic damages arising out of breach of an express contract may not also assert a tort claim for the same action absent an independent duty of care. *See Hermansen v. Tasulis*, 2002 UT 52, ¶16, 48 P.3d 235. J&T Marketing sought damages arising out of the alleged breach of contract. J&T Marketing's contractual damages are the root for its alleged tort damages. [R 1028-35.] Further, J&T Marketing identified no independent duty outside of the contract. Therefore the economic loss rule should also apply to prohibit J&T Marketing from maintaining its five tort causes of action against Lowry and Kinsella.

## ARGUMENT

- I. **UNDER THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF LOWRY AND KINSELLA ON J&T MARKETING'S CLAIMS BECAUSE NO GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT WERE ESTABLISHED.**

This Court should affirm the trial court's 2006 Order and 2008 Order and deny J&T Marketing's appeal. Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that summary judgment may be obtained "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to

interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there are no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. Pro. 56(c). It is also well established that:

[o]nce the allegations in a complaint are challenged, the non-moving party has an obligation to come forward *with sufficient proof to show that the non-moving party is entitled to proceed to trial*. It is not enough to rest on allegations alone, *particularly when the parties have had an opportunity for discovery*.

*In re Discipline of Sonnenreich*, 2004 UT 3, ¶ 41, 86 P.3d 712 (emphasis added).

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