2008

Jones and Trevor Marketing, Inc. v. Financial
Development Services Inc. Jeremy Warburton,
John Neubauer, Jonathan L. Lowry, Nathan
Kinsella, and Esbex.com, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This case involves an appeal from a grant of summary judgment as to the personal liability of two of the defendants, Lowry and Kinsella.

The Plaintiff/Appellant, Jones & Trevor Marketing, Inc., is a Nevada corporation engaged in the sale of training courses developed by its owner and principal, Ted Thomas. (R. 1293.) Financial Development Services, Inc., (“FDS”) one of the corporate defendants, was a Utah corporation engaged in sales and telemarketing activities. (R. 1293.) FDS was dissolved on November 3, 2004. (R. 1293.) Esbex.com, Inc., (“Esbex”) the other corporate defendant, was originally a dba of FDS and was eventually incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of FDS. (R. 1294-95.) Esbex was dissolved on November 29, 2004. (R. 1295.) At all relevant times, Lowry and Kinsella were the sole shareholders and directors of FDS and Esbex. (R. 1296, 1300.) Though FDS and Esbex were legally distinct entities, in practice, Lowry and Kinsella operated FDS and Esbex as a single entity. (R. 1294-95.)

On or about January 31, 2002, J&T entered into a Sales and Marketing Agreement with FDS. (R. 1299.) Under the agreement, J&T provided to FDS training courses and the names, addresses, and phone numbers of sales leads. (R. 1294.) In exchange, FDS was to market and sell J&T’s training courses and provide coaching services, earning a commission of 60% of the gross sales. (R. 1023, 1299.) Esbex, though not in privity of

was entered against Defendants Financial Development Services, Inc. and Esbex.com, Inc. (R. 2215-17.)

contract with J&T, provided coaching services to purchasers of the J&T courses. (R. 1295.) After the relationship between the parties soured, J&T brought suit against FDS and Esbex and eventually against Lowry and Kinsella personally. (R. 33-49, 1021-44.)

In its opposition and supplemental opposition to Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment, J&T presented the following evidence regarding Lowry and Kinsella's direction and use of FDS and Esbex with regard to the J&T contract.

- Lowry and Kinsella were, at all times relevant to this appeal, the sole shareholders, officers, and directors of FDS and Esbex. (R. 1296, 1300.)
- Lowry and Kinsella ran FDS and Esbex as if the two corporations were one entity. (R. 1294-95.)
- Lowry and Kinsella were both aware and in control of all of the financial transactions that took place at FDS and Esbex. (R. 1301, 1305, 1642-43.)
- Lowry and Kinsella took money from the businesses whenever they wanted, regardless of the other commitments or responsibilities of the corporations. (R. 1300-02.)
- When customers returned J&T products, Lowry and Kinsella kept the refund from J&T and, instead of sending the product back to J&T, resold the product to new customers. (R. 1300, 1303-04, 1642.)
- Lowry and Kinsella knew that they were taking money earmarked for J&T customer refunds. (R. 1301, 1643-44.)
- Lowry and Kinsella repeatedly hid payments from J&T. (R. 1300-04.)

- Lowry and Kinsella treated customers who purchased J&T products poorly by failing to appropriately process refunds, by using “hard sell” tactics, and by charging unauthorized amounts to the customers’ accounts. (R. 1303-05.)
- After FDS terminated the agreement with J&T, Lowry and Kinsella made the decision to continue selling coaching, to instruct their employees not tell J&T about it, and to keep the money derived from the sales. (R. 1300, 1302, 1641-42.)
- Lowry and Kinsella took thousands of dollars of company proceeds for personal use, such as hunting trips, without proper documentation or accounting. (R. 1301, 1643.)
- Kinsella took money from FSD without telling Lowry. (R. 1302, 1644-45.)
- Lowry and Kinsella took money from FDS and Esbex to fund their personal interests, in disregard of the money needed to run the corporations. (R. 1300-03, 1642-46.)

Despite the above evidence, the trial court held that there was no genuine issue of fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of the corporations or whether Lowry and Kinsella committed torts in connection with the contract with J&T. J&T appeals that decision.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves questions of fact regarding the personal liability of two corporations' owners and directors. Though the corporate shield is an important economic tool, "to permit an agent of a corporation, in carrying on its business, to inflict wrong and injuries upon others, and then shield himself from liability behind his vicarious character, would often both sanction and encourage the perpetration of flagrant and wanton injuries by agents of insolvent and irresponsible corporations." *Armed Forces Ins. Exch. v. Harrison*, 2003 UT 14, ¶20, 70 P.3d 35 (quoting *Snowden v. Taggart*, 17 P.2d 305, 307 (Colo. 1932)). Observing the corporate shield and precluding the personal liability of the Appellees, Lowry and Kinsella, would sanction and encourage the perpetration of flagrant and wanton injuries by agents of insolvent and irresponsible corporations.

In its opposition to Lowry and Kinsella's joint motion for summary judgment, J&T presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of the two corporations. There is evidence that Lowry and Kinsella disregarded corporate formalities and used the corporations to fund their personal interests, regardless of the necessities and obligations of the corporation. Further, there is evidence that observing the corporate structure in this case would sanction the fraud committed by Lowry and Kinsella and would result in an unjust, inequitable result. J&T also presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella personally participated in several torts in connection with the performance of the contract at issue.

J&T should have had the opportunity to present all of the evidence to a factfinder to resolve the question of whether Lowry and Kinsella were personally liable for the torts committed. This Court should therefore reverse the grant of summary judgment and remand this case back to the trial court for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

The trial court in this case incorrectly granted Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment. Under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a court may not grant summary judgment unless the moving party establishes "[1] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and [2] that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

When a court addresses a motion for summary judgment, the court's function is not to weigh disputed evidence or to decide which side has the stronger case. Rather, the court's "sole inquiry should be whether material issues of fact exist." *Draper City v. Est. of Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1995). On a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party is not required to "prove" its case in order to defeat the motion. Instead, the nonmoving party is only required to submit evidence "sufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact." *Kleinert v. Kimball Elevator Co.*, 854 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). In addition, if there is "any doubt or uncertainty concerning questions of fact, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the opposing party [and] the court must evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment." *Bowen v. Riverton City*, 656 P.2d 434, 436 (Utah 1982).

This Court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo, *Poteet v. White*, 2006 UT 63 at ¶7, and should therefore reverse the trial court's decision because numerous questions of fact existed with regard to both J&T's alter ego theory and J&T's

tort allegations. J&T presented sufficient evidence to the trial court to prevent the trial court from discarding its alter ego theory of liability.

First, J&T presented evidence that Lowry and Kinsella failed to observe corporate formalities, that they freely took money from the corporations' accounts without proper accounting, and that they used the businesses for personal advantage. Further, it is clear from the facts that failing to allow J&T to proceed under its alter ego theory would work a substantial injustice on J&T. Both FDS and Esbex were undercapitalized because of the actions of Lowry and Kinsella. Refusing to pierce the corporate veil in this case would sanction their fraud and deprive J&T of a remedy.

Second, the trial court should not have granted summary judgment to Lowry and Kinsella because personal liability on a corporate contract lies where officers or directors commit torts in the process of performing on the contract. J&T presented sufficient issues of facts as to whether Lowry and Kinsella acted tortiously in carrying out the contract at issue. Thus, this Court should reverse the grant of summary judgment and remand this case back to the trial court for resolution of the issues of fact.

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS INAPPROPRIATE BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF FACT EXISTED WHETHER LOWRY AND KINSELLA WERE THE ALTER EGOS OF THE CORPORATIONS.

The trial court incorrectly found that there were no issues of material fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella were the alter egos of FDS and/or Esbex. In order to successfully oppose a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff need not prove its alter ego theory. A plaintiff must merely show facts in controversy. *Salt Lake City Corp. v.*

James Constructors, Inc., 761 P.2d 42, 47 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Under Utah law, a court will pierce the corporate veil and hold individuals liable under the equitable alter ego doctrine where

(1) there [is] such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist, viz., the corporation is, in fact, the alter ego of one or a few individuals; and (2) the observance of the corporate form would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or an inequitable result would follow.

Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co., 596 P.2d 1028, 1030 (Utah 1979). One of the defining characteristics of the alter ego doctrine is that “it is an equitable doctrine requiring that each case be determined upon its peculiar facts.” *See James Constructors*, 761 P.2d at 47 (citing *Nat’l Bond Fin. Co. v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 341 F.2d 1022, 1023 (8th Cir. 1965)).

In this case, J&T presented enough disputed facts to prevent the district court from properly granting Lowry and Kinsella’s motion for summary judgment as to J&T’s alter ego theory. First, there is a unity of interest and ownership between the corporations, FDS and Esbex, and Lowry and Kinsella. Lowry and Kinsella repeatedly ignored corporate formalities and treated the corporations as personal banks. Second, allowing Lowry and Kinsella to hide behind the corporate shields in this case would work an injustice on J&T and sanction the fraud committed by Lowry and Kinsella.

A. There Is a Unity of Interest and Ownership Between FDS / Esbex and Lowry / Kinsella.

The trial court incorrectly found that there was no evidence, and therefore no issue of fact, that Lowry and Kinsella used the corporations inappropriately. In order to

determine whether the individual and the corporate form have merged, Utah courts generally consider the following significant, if not conclusive, factors:

(1) undercapitalization of a one-man corporation; (2) failure to observe corporate formalities; (3) non-payment of dividends; (4) siphoning of corporate funds by the dominant stockholder; (5) non-functioning of other officers or directors; (6) absence of corporate records; (7) the use of the corporation as a façade for operations of the dominant stockholder or stockholders; and (8) the use of the corporate entity in promoting injustice or fraud.

Colman v. Colman, 743 P.2d 782, 786 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (citing *Ramsey v. Adams*, 603 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Kan. Ct. App. 1979); *Amoco Chems. Corp. v. Bach*, 567 P.2d 1337, 1341-42 (Kan. 1977)). In determining whether this “formalities” prong of the alter ego doctrine is met, courts “look[] through form to substance and ha[ve] often disregarded the corporate form when it was fiction in fact and deed and was merely serving the personal use and convenience of the owner.” *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 (quoting *Lyons v. Lyons*, 340 So. 2d 450, 451 (Ala. Civ. App. 1976)).

In considering the above factors, some factors tend to weigh more heavily in favor of piercing the corporate veil. In *Colman*, the court found that many of the above factors were met and commented particularly on the seventh, façade, factor: “[f]ailure to distinguish between corporate and personal property, the use of corporate funds to pay personal expenses without proper accounting, and failure to maintain complete corporate and financial records are looked upon with extreme disfavour.” *Id.* at 786 n.3 (citing *Roylex, Inc. v. Langson Bros. Constr. Co.*, 585 S.W.2d 768, 772 (Tex. Civ. App. 1979)). The *James Constructors* court, too, placed emphasis on the “extent to which the corporate

formalities . . . are observed.” *James Constructors*, 761 P.2d at 47.

Courts frequently disregard the corporate form where only a few of the above elements are present in the case. In *Lyons*, the court disregarded the corporate form and held a shareholder personally liable for, among other things, commingling corporate funds with his own and failing to keep proper corporate records. *Lyons*, 340 So. 2d at 451.

In this case, Lowry and Kinsella completely disregarded the corporate form when it suited their needs. Though FDS and Esbex were struggling to meet their financial responsibilities, Lowry and Kinsella often took money from the corporations for their personal use. (R. 1295, 1300-03, 1642-46.) For example, the former CFO of FDS and the accountant for both entities, John Neubauer, testified that “[i]f [Lowry and Kinsella] needed money, they took it regardless of what the rest of the circumstances were” and that Lowry and Kinsella often took “\$5,000 or 10,000 extra out of the company for a hunting trip or some reason.” (R. 1301, 1642-43.) Mr. Neubauer further testified that Lowry and Kinsella used the corporations “to fund all their personal interests” and that they did so “in spite of the fact that there were significant obligations that had already been incurred.” (R. 1301-02, 1646.)

J&T presented the above evidence to the trial court in support of its alter ego theory. Standing alone, the above evidence is sufficient to raise a question of fact as to whether Lowry and Kinsella disregarded corporate formalities to the extent that there was a unity of interest and ownership to satisfy the first prong of the alter ego doctrine. Even

if the evidence were not conclusive, the issues presented should have proceeded to trial.

B. The Observance of the Corporate Forms of FDS and Esbex Would Sanction Fraud, and an Unjust, Inequitable Result Would Follow.

The trial court incorrectly failed to consider whether the observance of the corporate form in this case would work an injustice or sanction fraud. There is no indication in the trial court's ruling that the trial court considered the prong prior to granting Lowry and Kinsella's motion for summary judgment. (R. 1690-1703.) For this second "fairness" prong of the alter ego doctrine, a plaintiff need not "prove actual fraud, but must only show that failure to pierce the corporate veil would result in an injustice." *Colman*, 743 P.2d at 786 (citing *United States v. Healthwin-Midtown Convalescent Hosp. & Rehab. Ctr. Inc.*, 511 F. Supp 416, 420 (D. Cal. 1981)).

In *Colman*, the court found that use of the corporate entity in that case would result in an injustice because it would convert marital assets into untouchable corporate assets and therefore deprive the wife of a remedy. *Id.* at 788. In *Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc.*, the court held that genuine issues of fact existed as to whether the alter ego doctrine was satisfied and noted that observance of the corporate shield in that case was unfair and unjust because the corporation was undercapitalized:

It is coming to be recognized as the policy of the law that shareholders should in good faith put at the risk of the business unencumbered capital reasonably adequate for its prospective liabilities. If the capital is illusory or trifling compared with the business to be done and the risks of loss, this is a ground for denying the separate entity privilege.

James Constructors, 761 P.2d at 47 (quoting David Barber, *Piercing the Corporate Veil*, 17 Willamette L. Rev. 371, 386 (1981) (quoting Henry W. Ballantine, *Ballantine on*

Corporations 303 (1946))).

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